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This is fan fiction inspired by Charles Stross’ ‘Laundry’ series and ‘A Colder War.’

Thanks for all the entertainment, Mr. Stross.










‘The Laundry’ is copyright Charles Stross; this story is copyright 2008 Jacob Zimmerman.  All rights reserved, except that this work may be freely copied and distributed without modification.  It cannot be sold.










I claim no ownership over The Laundry or the world of The Laundry, of course.  The story within is not a Laundry story, or in the world of A Colder War, and is my own invention.  It is not purported to be part of Mr. Stross’ story canon in any way.  I receive no financial profit from this work.




I became fascinated with the notion of what a briefing book would look like for someone pulled behind the curtain into a world of thaumaturgical strategic conflict after reading Mr. Stross’ A Colder War.  Since I spent time writing such documents as a defense analyst, these tales came to be. They were originally posted on the website Everything2, where I write under the pseudonym of [The Custodian].  I hope you enjoy them!  

- jbz


CODE NAME: SPECWEAPS




CLASSIFICATION: SAPPHIRE VORPAL JULIET - POTUS EYES ONLY

CATALOG: NSA/CANTRIP REF TAG JXJFF44890-SDKJA88-UUTDD8-1MMQOSU  CODE GROUP NOVEMBER




XXX START SECTION ONE XXX




Mr. President, this briefing is for your eyes only and must, as per Executive Order PEI-43Y (Secret) be read within twenty-four (24) hours of your assuming the office of President of the United States of America.

This is a familiarization briefing intended to acquaint you with the current balance of Archean power between the several parties of the Dresden/Yalta accords.




HISTORICAL INTRO FOLLOWS:




This briefing assumes you have read Document WEAPS-D/Y-MISK-112 (Miskatonic University Journal of Natural Sciences, 4Q 1927: "Some thoughts on the potential of harnessing Shoggoth plasmids in a controlled system," Dyer, Danforth, et al).




In 1929, representatives of the major powers met at Dresden, Germany to discuss the potential for misuse of various Great Old Ones specimens then known to exist around the planet. Subjects LAKE/1 through LAKE/8 were unavailable for study. The Soviet Army admitted to the discovery and charting of subject BALTIC/ALPHA discovered amongst ruins on the Baltic seabed. The British government described various finds in the Palestine and Arabian deserts. It was agreed at this time that any and all weaponization of these specimens (SIERRA PAPA) or any technology derived from them (KILO TANGO) was expressly forbidden under the terms of the Dresden Accords until and unless all signing powers agreed at a later date to nullify the treaty. The signatory powers to those accords were: The United States, Great Britain on behalf of the Commonwealth, The Soviet Union, Weimar Germany, Imperial Japan, Italy, Turkey, Egypt, Argentina and Chile.




The United States Government immediately began a crash program of investigation into weapon systems designed specifically to overcome known physical limitations of the LAKE subjects and associated Shoggoth specimens. Early code names for the project included HOLY PRANDIAL, HAVE PORTAL and HOTEL PAPA LIMA CHARLIE before the outbreak of World War II. As that conflict escalated, organization DEEP BLACK was spun up to monitor potential breaches of the Dresden Accords on the part of any combatant, operating under the cover of THE UNITED STATES PARAPSYCHOLOGICAL DEFENSE AGENCY. No breaches were discovered, and all signatories maintained communication updates on Dresden Incursion Notifications throughout the initial years of the conflict. In 1942, however, indications from station Germany indicated that designated personnel were being compartmentalized from activity and station Germany made its final report in April, 1942 with a fragmentary transmission containing the words "Thule," "Active" and "Seabed."




At this, the Soviet Union, Great Britain and the United States formally activated clause IX of the Dresden Accords permitting them to develop sponsored weapon systems to cope with possible KILO TANGO incursions. In 1943 this program was formally tagged MANHATTAN in the United States and assumed critical importance. DEEP BLACK, in its nascent years, had recruited the surviving members of the Pabodie and Starkweather expeditions and begun defensive analysis of SITE GAMMA at Mount Erebus, offering full updates and observer posts to Soviet, British and German personnel. With the cessation of Dresden updates from inside Germany, the German observer personnel were detained onsite at SITE GAMMA and restricted from communications with their home state. All volunteered to join US exploitation efforts and repudiated Nazi Germany.




As Germany fell to invasions from both fronts, American servicemen liberated various Nazi concentration camps. Selectively briefed intelligence assets in those units confirmed the presence of KILO TANGO installations in most of these locations, with an emphasis on the likelihood of experimental control of SIERRA PAPA materials. Most disturbing were the discovery of two separate underground facilities containing cold water containment systems approximately fifteen meters square. In both tanks, human ossiferous remains were discovered and later identified to be those of camp inmates. Railroad movements just prior to liberation indicated shipments of unknown content away from these sites to northern coastal installations, especially Peenemünde. Although no KILO TANGO or SIERRA PAPA materials had been found there, indications of transshipment were present. Several personnel at the rocket base were discovered to be suffering from what was later determined to be extreme radiation poisoning and a U-Boat sunk in the docks area by Allied airstrike was found to have large cargo loading portals half-installed over its aft torpedo spaces and ballast tanks.




Project MANHATTAN assumed a new urgency as no success was forthcoming in the location of these shipments. Evidence discovered later in the 1950s indicates that the Soviet Union had discovered one sunken Type XXI U-Boat in the Baltic Sea near the original discovery site of specimen BALTIC/ALPHA, but at the time no other information was available for several months.




In late 1944, a POW in the American zone of WESTERN/ETO declared himself in possession of KILO TANGO information to his intelligence debriefers. He was immediately transferred to the CONUS and sequestered with DEEP BLACK assets at Hanford, Washington, where he divulged that a shipment of SIERRA PAPA materials had been made via U-Boat to Imperial Japan.




Once his information was verified, President Roosevelt was briefed on the likely delivery point of the SIERRA PAPA material - the Kokura Arsenal or Army Marine Headquarters. Immediate use of early MANHATTAN assets was recommended to ensure destruction of all KILO TANGO and SIERRA PAPA materials in the target areas; however, President Roosevelt, determining that DEEP BLACK was not positive of the arrival of these materials, decided on continued conventional firebombing.




In early July, 1945, however, President Harry S. Truman was informed by DEEP BLACK leadership that they had credible evidence of the arrival of an unidentified German Type XXI in Hiroshima Port. President Truman, up to that point unaware of DEEP BLACK, Dresden Accords or the original purpose of Project MANHATTAN, signed Executive Order PEI-43Y to ensure his successors were not subject to strategic surprise. At the same time, he authorized the immediate MANHATTAN strike against Hiroshima in an attempt to neutralize any loose Dresden-regulated materials.




Unfortunately, after the mission plan for Hiroshima was finalized, new information indicated that the submarine in Hiroshima harbor was transporting bullion assets of the Nazi government, and that another Type XXI had been possibly spotted in the Nagasaki docks nestled among two IJN I-Boats. President Truman withdrew for two hours, consulting with DEEP BLACK briefer Edwin O. Reischauer, then authorized an additional strike on the Nagasaki target.




Following the close of hostilities, the principals met secretly at Yalta (already established as neutral ground) to clarify the Dresden Accords. The Accords were reaffirmed, and the right of any state to use MANHATTAN assets to combat the spread of KILO TANGO or SIERRA PAPA materials (now termed SPECWEAPS in their potentially weaponized state - Strategic Potential Ectomorphic Weaponized Elder/Archean Protoplasmic Systems) was laid down. The Soviet Union requested, and was granted, information from project MANHATTAN to ensure that any loose SPECWEAPS material in the Japanese Archipelago would be within reach of adequate firepower. Great Britain was included in the knowledge transfer, and initiated programs in Australia to backstop Soviet monitoring.




Following the war, early discovery of additional SPECWEAPS just outside the main ring of Berlin resulted in a Soviet exploitation mission to recover these materials. Their security zone required the isolation of the Berlin area, resulting in a Western supply airlift - the Soviet Dresden organization (code named Древний Дракон / ELDER DRAGON) requested Western resupply due to local insufficiency of resources. To maintain security, the incident was advertised as a hostile encounter. When the materials had been cleared, access to Berlin via land corridor was resumed.




In early 1950, the People's Republic of China became aware of the existence of Dresden/Yalta, possibly from Soviet defectors. Although no known reserves of SPECWEAPS were available to them, they discovered a potentially unknown reserve of SPECWEAPS information at a site in Kaesöng, North Korea, and began immediately to maneuver for the acquisition of a security zone around the site. These efforts, whose motives were kept from Korean government officials, were mistakenly interpreted by the latter as backing for adventurism, and war broke out. The United States did not become aware of the involvement of a SPECWEAPS situation for several months; once it did, however, effort was ramped up heavily and DEEP BLACK action units were dispatched into North Korea to attempt to neutralize any SPECWEAPS materials or personnel found.




Although most available information had been removed from the Kaesöng site by the time of MacArthur's incursion, fear of the United States garnering 'hard evidence' of a Dresden/Yalta violation (and thus solidly tying their motives with those of the USSR which up until that point had been divergent) China intervened directly to protect the site, which was destroyed with conventional bombardment. No DEEP BLACK personnel or materials were extracted.




It appears that North Korea did manage to retain some SPECWEAPS information or materials, however; not enough to utilize, but enough to extort the PRC government's support, which continues to this day. No attempt on the part of the US or other Dresden/Yalta signatories has been made to locate or determine the type of the North Korea find, as China has indicated privately to both that no utilizable materials were discovered there.
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XXX START SECTION TWO XXX




Mr. President: Do not read this section until you have completed Section One and been cleared as per your designated Operative Occluder.




By 1958, it was becoming clear to the U.S. and Great Britain Dresden/Yalta (D/Y) organizations that the USSR was not being entirely candid in its regular Dresden/Yalta updates. Evidence was mounting that the Soviets had successfully recovered the Type XXI boat from the bottom of the Baltic Sea and taken possession of its cargo. There was no hard information available on what had been recovered, or where it had been taken; however, HUMINT assets attempting to collect information on the Soviet Project 627 SSN produced an image from inside a Severodvinsk scrapyard of what was later determined to be the raised Type XXI. It had been bisected around the middle of the aft torpedo spaces, and the hulk showed evidence of internal damage to the spaces thus revealed - as well as some indications that the 'cargo' space had extended into or been connected to the aft ballast tanks. Radiation trefoil warnings, similar to those placed on malfunctioning marine nuclear reactors, were placed around the Type XXI. Before DEEP BLACK could coordinate its own intelligence mission, the Type XXI vanished from the shipyard. Fragmentary evidence indicates it was sunk in deep water underneath the Arctic icecap.




The USSR continued to maintain that the only SPECWEAPS materials in its possession were the single, decayed BALTIC/ALPHA specimen and inconclusive intelligence garnered from the interrogation of German POWs. DEEP BLACK and its British counterpart (MI-9, 'The Laundry') began a systematic collection effort for verification.




After eighteen months of work, evidence was collated which pointed to a large below-ground cold-water containment site at Chelyabinsk-65. This site was listed in secret Soviet documentation as a Pu-239 processing facility, with the containment pool described as a thermo-stable materials storage facility; however, the installation of several large flat ramps from the pools to ground level were not matched by exterior roadway access points and in two cases led directly to unimproved but heavily-secured ground areas. Additional reconnaissance of this site was prioritized.




In 1960, after a single test overflight over standard National Security targets, CIA unit "10-10" dispatched a Utility-2 overflight from Badaber, Pakistan to overfly Chelyabinsk-65. Intelligence was collected, but Soviet air defenses, alerted by the test flight, succeeded in downing the collection platform (along with one of their own fighters) in a massive SA-2 Guideline salvo. The platform Operator, F. Powers, disregarded his orders to destroy the aircraft and followed his secret orders from DEEP BLACK Procedures section, destroying his DEEP BLACK collection equipment but leaving his other cameras intact.




The failure of the Utility-2 overflight convinced DEEP BLACK that the Chelyabinsk-65 facility was in fact a SPECWEAPS site, and the design for the A-12 spy plane was modified to allow it to carry a single MANHATTAN asset for possible use against SPECWEAPS materials or assets in the Chelyabinsk area. Convinced that the USSR was engaged in wholesale proliferation of SPECWEAPS, DEEP BLACK supported the USAF's request for a high-speed penetration bomber, modifying its design to include honeycomb steel construction rather than aluminum as aluminum equipment had been suffering early and unexplained structural failures during the ongoing Mt. Erebus exploitation efforts. The XB-70A Valkyrie was prepared for use against select SPECWEAPS targets.




In 1966, however, the USSR formally declared via the Dresden/Yalta mechanism that they were maintaining a single SPECWEAPS sample captured from Germany, and requested inspection by the other signatories. After several trips, various DEEP BLACK and LAUNDRY personnel testified that the Chelyabinsk-65 facility, although it did contain a size three reconfigurable Shoggoth sterilization system, was purely experimental and did not constitute a deployable weapon system. The XB-70 was eventually cancelled in a show of detente.




In early 1969, DEEP BLACK became aware of secretive scientific and troop movements on the part of the Chinese government, including the stealthy positioning of infantry special forces with SPECWEAPS personnel inside northern Mongolia. The situation was exacerbated by the Chinese attack on Zhenbao Island, far to the east, which sucked in a large number of Soviet troops in response. As the world watched China and the USSR spar publicly over old border claims in the east, units of the newly formed Chinese SPECWEAPS organization (祖传礼品 / ANCESTRAL GIFT) moved into Irkutsk, to the site of the 1908 Tunguska Meteor explosion. It is not known what they were seeking or what they recovered; however, their retreat was cut off by Soviet troop movements, and they were forced to divert west and fight their way back across the border in Xinjiang Province. Although both nations presented the combat as part and parcel of the so-called border dispute, the USSR had informed the U.S. and other Dresden/Yalta signatories of the true nature of the incursion. Although the Chinese special forces undertook demolition at the site, the remains of an underground grotto with extensive cold-water flow systems was discovered. A heavy concentration of animal remains and trace radiation was observed. Geologists estimated that the grotto had been sealed away from the surface since the 1908 impact.




Faced with this evidence, POTUS Nixon determined to bring China into the Dresden/Yalta accords, but met resistance. The secrecy of Dresden/Yalta had been tight enough that the Chinese government remained unconvinced that other powers had already acquired SPECWEAPS technology, and were loath to enter into any treaty limiting their development in a field they believed themselves to be ahead in. The only way to convince them otherwise was to demonstrate the state of D/Y SPECWEAPS development - but under no circumstances would the Chinese government allow such technology into their borders, nor would they visit elsewhere due to concerns over brain-eating co-option.




The solution to this impasse was to enlist a high-level VIP to transport and host the demonstration, one which the Chinese would be willing to believe was not being sacrificed in a secret Shoggoth smuggling strike. As a result, POTUS Nixon, with a keen sense of opportunism, traveled in person to China to assure the Chinese ANCESTRAL GIFT of the capabilities of the U.S., USSR and Great Britain. Following this trip, during which Nixon was able to convince the Chinese government to join the mutual updating schedule to reduce tension, the ANCESTRAL GIFT organization formally joined the Dresden/Yalta Accords. During his rehearsal presentation, however, a class-two servitor entity escaped control in the White House West Wing, and was contained in the swimming pool. Despite its successful termination, the contamination of the site and personnel was such that wholesale memory modification was required among witnessing staff. To explain the damage, the swimming pool was retroactively converted to a press briefing room, with construction debris hiding cleanup. (NOTE: DO NOT ACCESS AREA IDP-784 ON YOUR WHITE HOUSE ACCESS MAP WITHOUT AN ESCORT CLEARED TO GOLD SIERRA HEARTHSTONE LEVELS AND POSSESSING A CLASS-TWO SOULSHIELD.)




The Vietnam War was not related to SPECWEAPS in any way.




In 1978, the Shah of Iran, a SPECWEAPS activity ally of DEEP BLACK with CODE NARCISSUS GOLF CHESHIRE clearance due to his provision of diplomatic cover for DEEP BLACK activities in three sites in the Iranian desert, was overthrown. POTUS Carter announced his intention to brief select members of the provisional government of Iran on SPECWEAPS; DEEP BLACK was forced to exercise Provision 43 of the Operating Charter and deploy a non-sentient limited-scope servitor to modify POTUS's memory and prevent this breach of security. D/Y partner nations were advised.




During early 1979, DEEP BLACK and its allied agencies worked to evacuate all remaining SPECWEAPS materials from the three sites within Iran; two sites were completely cleared but a third was not. A contingent of the Iranian Revolutionary Guards had been bivouacked near the third site, and it was deemed impossible to continue without either wet operations or diversion.




On November 4, 1979, student revolutionaries occupied the United States Embassy and took hostages. DEEP BLACK immediately deployed watcher entities to protect the hostages in situ (again consulting with other D/Y agencies) and commenced a cover operation. Under the cover of sandstorm, a flight of eight CH-53 SpecOps helos and a Charlie-130 with DEEP BLACK minders was sent to Site Three. Although all remaining SPECWEAPS material was successfully loaded aboard the Charlie-130, one of the two specimens retrieved began to show signs of classic Lake/Dyer estivation termination. In the ensuing evacuation, the flight crew of the C-130 were killed by a Dresden Incursion (level three) and the DEEP BLACK team aboard a neighboring CH-53, witnessing this, rammed their aircraft into the grounded C-130 in a (successful) attempt to sterilize the incursion.




POTUS Carter, unable to properly focus, lost the election handily. This is the only instance of intervention in U.S. political process by DEEP BLACK, and all parties are briefed. (NOTE: THIS INFORMATION IS CLASSIFIED LOCKSLEY SEVEN FIVE THETA AND DIVULGENCE OF THIS INFORMATION OUTSIDE AUTHORIZED DEEP BLACK INFORMATION CORRAL NINER FIVE NINER WILL RESULT IN AUTOMATIC PERSONALITY RECONSTRUCTION VIA AUTOSERVITOR POTUS-ONE).
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Following the destruction of the Charlie-130 SPECWEAPS extraction transport at Desert One, all exploitation teams were put on high security alert. SITE GAMMA's air defenses both technical and thaumaturgic were brought fully online for the first time. Unfortunately, on November 28, 1979 a rune of transgression on Mt. Erebus signaled intrusion. Due to the looser ROE brought on by the alert, no human was in-loop and a major glamour was deployed as a precaution against observation. The glamour caused the pilots of an incoming sightseeing flight, Air New Zealand Flight 901, to undergo 'white-out' conditions and crash into Mount Erebus itself.




Immediately following there were unexpected seismic disturbances at SITE GAMMA near Mt. Erebus, resulting in the cave-in and subsequent loss of access to several sites of interest to the ongoing exploitation teams. These tremors seemed to concentrate on the subterranean sea access points from the main site. At the same time, a series of tremors were detected in the Pacific Ocean. Later examination of seismograph records revealed that these tremors were simultaneous across a narrow corridor of ocean which stretched in a straight line from a point just north of Guam, in the Marianas Trench, to the Pacific northwest coast of the United States. There were immediate signs of vulcanism at Mount St. Helens in Washington state; on May 18th, that volcano erupted.




57 people died and the mountain's summit was reduced by over a thousand feet. DEEP BLACK assets assessed the seismic data and determined that the eruption had most likely been stimulated by unknown forces beneath the Pacific Ocean, and speculated that if these forces were related to SITE GAMMA and SPECWEAPS that a surviving colony of Old Ones might be extant in the deep benthic regions. Considering the level of threat demonstrated by the eruption, this possibility was assigned a CRITICALITY OLIVE THUNDER threat rating by the NSC on DEEP BLACK recommendation.




Immediately following the threat escalation, the U.S. Navy dispatched submarine assets to survey the Marianas area. SSN and research vessels were tasked over a three-month period with mapping the bottom of the trench using remote sensors. Anomalies were detected below the three-thousand meter level which could not be explained hydrodynamically, and poor mapping resolution resulted. The U.S. NOAA undertook a seismocartographic expedition without the knowledge of DEEP BLACK. Standardized sounding charges were dropped in a regular grid pattern across the Marianas area, with specialized hydrophones utilizing return echoes from the detonations to provide mapping data.




The Oceanographic vessel was lost during its return to Hawaii with all hands. No explanation for its loss was produced, and no wreckage was ever found.




In 1981, DEEP BLACK, LAUNDRY, and ELDER DRAGON became aware of indications that various persons of interest to intelligence were vanishing unaccountably near seashores. All assumed that these disappearances were related to prearranged transport until two of these subjects attempted to assassinate POTUS Reagan and Karol Jozef Wojtyla in 1981. Following these events, during which both assassins were found to have no memory of their actions, necrotized tissue was discovered in their brainstems which, upon analysis, was determined to be Protean in origin, the Dresden/Yalta signatories convened an emergency meeting in Rio de Janeiro.




At that meeting, the signatory organizations agreed that a coordinated response to Protean infiltration and strike operations was necessary. The supranational code PRIOR TENANT was instituted to identify the benthic threat. LAUNDRY instituted surveillance coordination centers at Port Stanley and Diego Garcia; DEEP BLACK stood up centers at Pearl Harbor and SITE GAMMA.




British SPECWEAPS assets used for testing communications systems between D/Y signatories and PRIOR TENANT were relocated to Port Stanley. Intentional leaks stating that highly secret sonar testing equipment was being emplaced backfired when the Argentine government became convinced (due to the security measures undertaken) that MANHATTAN assets were present at Port Stanley. As the Argentine government was not a D/Y signatory, no correction was issued; the Argentine military government initiated an occupation of the Falkland Islands in response to perceived secret British escalation.




Her Majesty's Government was initially undecided on response, until a LAUNDRY briefing detailed the importance of the facility under threat. A special forces team with LAUNDRY minders was dispatched immediately for the facility and landed outside Port Stanley near Mount Kent, retaking the facility. The British military effort was launched both to reinforce and retrieve those forces as well as divert attention from the facility and attempts to secure it. In those respects the invasion was successful.




The ELDER DRAGON organization, around this time, apparently began omitting some details from their regular D/Y update briefings and transmissions. DEEP BLACK and ANCESTRAL GIFT reported on suspicious materials transfers within the Soviet Union in 1982. ANCESTRAL GIFT assets reported on deepwater containment systems being constructed at Rybachy, a Soviet Pacific Fleet nuclear submarine base near the port of Petropavlosk-Kamchatsky on the Kamchatka peninsula, a closed military reservation. In accordance with treaty obligations, DEEP BLACK, LAUNDRY and ANCESTRAL GIFT requested a verification inspection of the Rybachy facility at the 3Q 1982 convention and were refused access. ELDER DRAGON maintained that Rybachy was strictly a strategic nuclear weapons center.




Following this, several reconnaissance overflights were conducted using SR-71 platforms from Alaska and Diego Garcia between April and September, 1983. ELDER DRAGON did not respond but according to later reports briefed the Soviet military and PVO Stranyy that NATO spy overflights were suspected in the vicinity of Pacific Fleet assets, with no further information.




On September 1, 1983 a civil transport Boeing 747 en route from Anchorage, AK to Seoul, South Korea deviated north from its track into restricted Soviet airspace over the Kamchatka peninsula. Soviet Air Defenses were already on the alert for a ballistic missile test, which turned out to be a cover for unknown activities at Rybachy. It appears, on later analysis, that ELDER DRAGON was coordinating the move of a large SPECWEAPS system from Rybachy to another location inside the Soviet Union, and the intrusion of flight KAL 007 was mistakenly interpreted first as a strike mission against Rybachy. This was discounted when interceptors reported a large transport airframe. However, local ELDER DRAGON advisors were concerned that the aircraft was a DEEP BLACK-modified RC-135 reconnaissance aircraft and recommended it be intercepted. The airliner was destroyed by two Soviet intercepts, crashing near Moneron Island. All D/Y parties maintained secrecy and the incident played out as a Cold War confrontation. At this point, all coordination with ELDER DRAGON on PRIOR TENANT operations and intelligence ceased until the 1992 timeframe when the collapse of the Soviet Union allowed ELDER DRAGON, under new management, to rejoin the Dresden/Yalta regime.




In 1984, the U.S. Navy, DEEP BLACK and the LAUNDRY had mapped at least seven PRIOR TENANT installations in deep benthic regions around the planet. They suspected an eighth site in deep water near the Azores and the Sargasso Sea. As part of this investigation, they concluded there was a chance that the 1968 loss of the USS Scorpion (SSN-589) in 3300 meters of water near that location might have been PRIOR TENANT action as opposed to malfunction or Soviet interference. A new mission to investigate the wreck was initiated, with the proviso that it be dispatched with a cover mission. A team from Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution was sent to take high-resolution imagery of the Scorpion, as well as the remains of the USS Thresher (SSN-593), lost on April 10, 1963 off Cape Cod. As cover, they were to attempt to locate the wreck of the RMS Titanic.




Imagery was recovered from all three wrecks. The Thresher was found with no indication of any outside interference; all evidence pointed to the original engineering casualty as the reason for its loss. The Scorpion was subjected to a much closer examination than has been publicized. Although confidence remains high that the Scorpion suffered an initial engineering casualty which caused her to lose way and begin to sink, she apparently survived intact to the depth of approximately 2100 meters. At that point, the submarine suffered catastrophic hull failure and separated into sections; however, evidence from the scene indicates that this failure was likely precipitated by external tampering. Large gouges in the hull metal have been photographed in six locations on the outer surface of the hull; all of them directly over or near to critical structural failure points. Various systems inside the wreckage appeared to be missing with no indication of structural failure or wrenching; consoles, components and mounted items are simply not present, appearing to have been deliberately removed.




The expedition continued on to locate the Titanic, and was publicly advertised as a successful attempt to satisfy only that goal.




DEEP BLACK and LAUNDRY designated the Scorpion incident PRIOR TENANT OLIVE THUNDER and continued to survey the Sargasso region in an attempt to locate PRIOR TENANT installations, to no avail; however, the overt interference present in this instance indicates that either some installation or temporary presence was disturbed by the submarine's intrusion. It is possible that PRIOR TENANT was unaware the submarine was in distress, as other human equipment had often penetrated to that depth successfully and deliberately. DEEP BLACK and LAUNDRY speculated on record that PRIOR TENANT might be observing a benthic exclusion zone policy. Priority was set on determining if this was the case, and if so, what the exclusion zone limits were and/or contacting PRIOR TENANT for diplomatic interaction.







XXX END SECTION THREE XXX
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In early 1985, the research vessel R/V Atlantis II and its associated submersible DSV-2 Alvin were dispatched on classified missions to the Marianas Trench area near which the Mount St. Helens disturbances had originated. Operating under strict DEEP BLACK supervision, the team made tentative contact with PRIOR TENANT entities below the 3,000 meter line and managed four nine-hour dives during which rudimentary communication was possible. PRIOR TENANT evinced no interest in rising to depths shallower than approximately 3,000 meters, and Alvin could only remain at those depths for a nine-hour period. PRIOR TENANT was equally unwilling to use electronic or hydro-acoustic communication. Contact operations with PRIOR TENANT were code named BENTHIC OUTREACH.




A large volume of data was exchanged without realtime translation, the 'live' exchange being limited to a dictionary of sorts. Atlantis II returned from the Marianas as the only human vessel confirmed to have communicated with PRIOR TENANT, and DEEP BLACK began deciphering the delivered data with the aid of the dictionary. Around July of 1985 it was determined that PRIOR TENANT was willing to enter into a treaty concerning the deep oceanic regions (the Bathypelagic below 2,992 meters; the Abyssopelagic and all Hadalpelagic trench regions) in return for one (large) demonstration of goodwill, which required several days of work to properly decode the transcription for.




Essentially, PRIOR TENANT made clear to DEEP BLACK and its sister agencies (and PRIOR TENANT was explicit in their knowledge of the various surface players) that they had for some time (in geologic terms) been working on the reacquisition of a space travel capability lost to their kind. They had reached a point where they were relatively sure that they had deciphered the metabolic and physical changes that their forms required to survive in vacuum and the radiation environment of deep space, but they as yet had not rediscovered their means of access to space. They requested a single PRIOR TENANT entity be transported to LEO to continue their experiments; they were vague as to how it was to be recovered, but all signs indicated that they expected to recover the 'explorer' alive on their own.




DEEP BLACK and LAUNDRY interceded with NASA and managed to secure an emergency cargo space aboard the next Shuttle flight; a 'classified' cargo module was placed into the Cargo bay of the orbiter for 'launch' during regular orbital operations. In reality, the contents of that module were one estivating PRIOR TENANT entity and miscellaneous supplies or equipment, verified by DEEP BLACK to be inert. They had been recovered off the Florida coast during a regularly-scheduled drill of SRB recovery vessels and transported by DEEP BLACK personnel. In the final days before launch, there were several extremely isolated storms off Hawaii which were later determined to be BENTHIC OUTREACH communication attempts; however, at the time they were taken to be thunderstorm cells and dismissed.




Subsequently, an unseasonably cold weather pattern was observed around the Shuttle where it waited on the pad. After some deliberation, the flight was approved, and mission STS-51L was launched. The shuttle was lost seventy-three seconds into flight. The PRIOR TENANT cargo was not recovered from the Orbiter wreckage, and no indications are available as to its survival or destruction.




Following the loss, urgent BENTHIC OUTREACH operations to re-contact PRIOR TENANT were undertaken in the Pacific. When contact had been re-established, PRIOR TENANT indicated to DEEP BLACK communicant Feynman that the loss of the Shuttle was in fact due to the cold temperatures experienced prior to launch, and that the cold front had been manufactured with precisely that intent. During the course of these discussions, PRIOR TENANT revealed the existence of a second benthic force hostile to PRIOR TENANT (and, by its action towards the shuttle, to homo sapiens). PRIOR TENANT advised that this force, also subsurface, consisted of the remnants of Shoggoth systems which had been allowed to roam rogue and escaped the great wars of subjugation fought to re-establish control over the Shoggoths some millions of years prior (NOTE: Ref. Document WEAPS-D/Y-MISK-054). These forces (designated by agent Feynman as HARPER'S FERRY for the purposes of communication) were of mid-level independent Servitors in command of a host of non-sentient Servitor plasmid systems. HARPERS FERRY were attempting to prevent PRIOR TENANT from regaining space travel. DEEP BLACK designated HARPERS FERRY as threat level CHARTREUSE BACKFIRE.

In April of 1986, DEEP BLACK called an emergency session of the Dresden/Yalta signatories. ELDER DRAGON sent an observer. DEEP BLACK briefed all other organizations of the existence of HARPERS FERRY and of the new intelligence on PRIOR TENANT and advised extreme caution in dealing with representatives of either force, and recommended full information sharing between agencies to prevent either benthic bloc from setting surface organizations against each other. All agencies save ELDER DRAGON agreed.




In the meantime, agreements with PRIOR TENANT had been established which allowed HOTEL SIERRA (aggregate Homo Sapiens) the use of the surface and all areas extending down to the BENTHIC LINE at 2,992 meters. In return, no encroachments below 2,992 meters would be permitted without prior consultation and advisement. PRIOR TENANT indicated willingness to allow benthic exploration by those parties not cleared for SPECWEAPS, PRIOR TENANT or HARPERS FERRY provided their dives did not encroach upon PRIOR TENANT installations, which would be determined by prior notification. HOTEL SIERRA representatives agreed in principle to the right of PRIOR TENANT to unilateral measures in the event an uncleared intrusion occurred. The one exception was for HOTEL SIERRA vessels in distress which survived transiting the BENTHIC LINE; in such cases, PRIOR TENANT was to notify HOTEL SIERRA forces as soon as practicable of the location of such incidents with an eye towards rescue and cleanup.




On 2 July 1988, during the Tanker War, U.S. Naval forces were escorting tankers through the Persian Gulf. The USS Sides (FFG-14) was prosecuting an unknown subsurface contact in the Persian Gulf under the auspices of the LAUNDRY, who had reason to believe that they had located a HARPERS FERRY installation in the Gulf from analysis of sonar and hydrographic data taken by various naval vessels over the prior two years. The installation was far above the BENTHIC LINE, which indicated either HARPERS FERRY or unknown HOTEL SIERRA actors. During the second pass over the target, the Sides detected five unknown targets separating from the Gulf bottom and transiting to shallow surface running. The Sides notified the other U.S. combatant in the area of possible shallow hostiles (USS Vincennes, CG-49) and began pursuit both itself and using helo assets. At the time, the Vincennes was involved in a running battle with Iranian gunboats and was moving to relieve its own helo, which was taking surface fire from those small craft.




Around 9:50 AM local time, July 3rd, the Vincennes was tracking an unknown inbound air target when the Sides detected the five unknown BENTHIC targets surfacing abruptly and vanishing from sonar. DEEP BLACK analysts aboard Sides assumed the targets had transitioned to airborne modes, and so advised the CO, who passed on the warning of potentially hostile unknown aerial targets to the remainder of the Surface Action Group - including the Vincennes, who had just received an (erroneous) IFF response indicating that their inbound track was a military aircraft. The Vincennes engaged their target, which turned out to be Iranian COMAIR. It was completely destroyed, hitting the sea 6 miles from the Vincennes. No contact with HARPERS FERRY was made, and the five shallow targets were never re-tracked. The installation over which the Sides had been passing was later found to return echoes of a rubble field - whether old or new was not determined.




On March 20, 1989, a routine sounding expedition in Prince William Sound off Alaska disappeared. Their vessel was recovered on March 21st by Coast Guard search assets. It was empty. When the vessel was boarded by Coast Guard personnel, it was found to contain several perfectly clean human bones, a quantity of unidentified protoplasm, and an area on the fantail which was completely stripped of organics - oil, grime, even anti-fouling paint which was reduced to metallic substrates. One of the Coast Guard divers on scene had been cleared and present on the Feynmann expedition, and immediately made covert use of his ship's transmitter to notify DEEP BLACK contacts in Anchorage. DEEP BLACK asserted authority over the abandoned vessel in the guise of the Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution, claiming a heretofore unseen specimen of Architeuthis Dux had attacked the ship. During their examination, they positively identified SPECWEAPS materials. A BENTHIC OUTREACH consultation resulted in PRIOR TENANT stating positively that they had no operations or installations in Prince William sound.




Hasty examination of the benthic regions was done by commercial sonar - all that DEEP BLACK could commandeer on short notice. After approximately a day of scanning, a disturbed region of bottom with regular repeating outlines was found just off Bligh Reef, a local landmark. As the scanning vessel passed overhead, however, several targets separated from the presumed structures. The crew of the vessel (all DEEP BLACK personnel) were evacuated by helicopter moments before the vessel was intercepted and dragged down by unknown systems.




At this point, the local DEEP BLACK command authority determined that an immediate strike was necessary to preserve the large quantity of shipping in Prince William Sound and (for all they knew) nearby shorelines. When it was determined that the protoplasm recovered from the sounding vessel was severely damaged by complex carbon organics, the local DEEP BLACK installation received permission from DEEP BLACK headquarters to perform a covert strike. A DEEP BLACK cleared SEAL team was inserted onto the VLCC Exxon Valdez. Drugging the captain, they proceeded to set the tanker on course for Bligh Reef and pre-weaken one of its cargo tanks. The tanker struck Bligh Reef, resulting in a large-scale oil spill around the area.




After the several months of cleanup were complete, DEEP BLACK resurveyed the installation off Bligh Reef. The outlines were still visible, but no movement was detected. DEEP BLACK divers recovered three organic subjects later determined to be non-sentient HARPERS FERRY units and the remains of one likely sentient. The incident was classified HARPERS FERRY CHARTREUSE BACKFIRE and a small surveillance asset was installed to watch for any HARPERS FERRY activity. None has been detected to date.




In 1991, the collapse of the government of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics resulted in ELDER DRAGON formally rejoining the Dresden/Yalta conventions, and since 1991, full updates have been received from all ELDER DRAGON representatives.
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In early 1990, Iraqi military forces began a high-effort assault on Kurdish populations and forces in Kurdistan, northern Iraq. Although then-current Iraqi leader Saddam Hussein al-Tikriti claimed the military operations were due entirely to rebel activity by factions within Kurdistan, LAUNDRY contacts disagreed. The LAUNDRY, having a longer history in the northern Euphrates area, received word from two embedded sources that some form of unexpected disaster had occurred in the Zagros Mountains. Covert investigation by LAUNDRY, DEEP BLACK, CIA and MI6 sources and assets revealed a cordon zone set up around the site of Shanidar Cave. Several famous Neanderthal skeleton finds had been excavated from this site in the 1950s and 1960s; following that, there had been no new finds, and the site had been relegated to a tourist curiosity. However, in early 1990, a cordon had been set up by Directorate 4 of the Jihaz Al-Mukhabarat Al-A'ma - the Iraqi Intelligence Service. Approximately a week later, Kurdish forces staged a surprise raid on the site. No information was forthcoming as to what they recovered; however, the military was called in to reinforce the area.




Information then surfaced indicating that the investigation and subsequent military operation was the result of an ongoing response to the Halabja incident of March 1988. A defector who was evacuated by covert US assets indicated that the Shanidar region had in fact been isolated two years prior, in January 1988, but at that time by Kurdish irregulars. Several objects had been excavated and removed to rebel strongholds elsewhere in Kurdistan. In March of 1988, as the Iraqi army and Mukhabarat were searching for the rebels involved, there was a containment breach of what appear to have been SPECWEAPS at the Halabja site. The defector claims to have been a member of the first-in investigation team. His statement is excerpted as follows from file SAPPHIRE HARPERS BACKFIRE 118/374Y:




(He) describes a town denuded of life, with a track some four point five meters wide extending from the basement of a large structure, out a bulkhead door, across an open square and terminating at a well. There was significant searing or chemical erosion of the rock surface between the door and the well, and no bodies were found in that area - all were found twenty meters or further from the track.




The track itself was sharply defined, with no indentations or protrusions of the rock surface remaining within its boundaries of greater than approximately ten microns. Strong radiation signature was present, both gamma and beta as well as several unknown compounds which dissipated before adequate samples could be taken. Four members of the initial exploitation team fell to radiation sickness and were removed. The subject has no information of their final whereabouts.




Determining the edge of the affected area, the subject and his team of seven approached the well which the unknown track terminated at. The direction of travel was determined from disturbances of nonorganic objects along the track - no organic samples remained intact within or close to the track's boundaries, but mineral detritus survived and scrape marks indicated the angle of disturbance. The well was outwardly unaffected save for erosive damage to the stone block well coping. A member of the team peered into the well but was unable to make out anything unusual; the well top was in shadow by that point and no light was available. One of the soldiers escorting the exploitation team tossed an illumination flare into the well, igniting it before dropping it in.




At this point, the subject is unable to continue with the description, and various measures ranging from electro-convulsive therapy to drug therapy have been unsuccessful. He has over the course of two weeks debrief produced several snippets of descriptive language, each typically followed by a seizure or loss of consciousness. The only words clearly heard in these snippets include one which sounds like "rill-yah" or "erell-yih" (Note: no cross references available) and "fit-aygin" or possibly "feht-ah-gun."




Intelligence reports indicate that shortly following the recovery of the remains of the exploitation teams, Iraqi forces began an immediate reduction of Halabja village. Chemical weapons were deployed for counterintelligence purposes, and conventional demolition teams destroyed all remaining structures. The well area was obliterated using ether extremely powerful conventional demolition charges or a small MANHATTAN asset, although overflights by U.S. Whisky Charlie 135 units produced no evidence of radiation fallout which points to the former.




DEEP BLACK and LAUNDRY designated the Mukhabarat operation a likely Dresden/Yalta violation and a SPECWEAPS concern. Saddam Hussein refused to coordinate information with either Western or Eastern D/Y agencies, and DEEP BLACK, LAUNDRY and ANCESTRAL GIFT agreed that surveillance was required. DEEP BLACK and LAUNDRY set up a surveillance command post in Kuwait to coordinate SPECWEAPS operations in the Iran/Iraq theater of operations.




The Mukhabarat discovered the DEEP BLACK operations through unknown means. Rather than object via the Dresden/Yalta communications channels offered to Iraq during the prior protest, Iraq invaded Kuwait under cover of a general military operation. The DEEP BLACK/LAUNDRY command post was successfully sanitized prior to the arrival of Iraqi forces, but two DEEP BLACK agents were captured by the Mukhabarat. Their Servitor implants verified their successful suicide under questioning.




POTUS Bush authorized an immediate mobilization for the possible containment of rogue SPECWEAPS and Dresden/Yalta incursion. Operation DESERT SHIELD was initiated as a cover for SPECWEAPS contingency operation SIERRA BACKFIRE. Coalition military forces were immediately deployed to Saudi Arabia and other regional areas. DEEP BLACK assets indicated that Iraq might have managed to militarize aerial SPECWEAPS, possibly with the support of HARPERS FERRY. As a result, newly-completed SPECWEAPS-capable MIM-104C PATRIOT batteries were emplaced around Iraqi theater targets to intercept rumored TEKELI delivery systems atop Iraqi SCUD-B SRBMs.




Several dozen SCUDs were fired during Operation DESERT SHIELD and Operation DESERT STORM. Most contained conventional high explosive warheads. One SCUD launched towards Coalition marshaling areas south of the Kuwait border, however, wobbled badly on launch and came down several miles offshore in the Gulf. As a result, it was not engaged by PATRIOT assets. Two days later, the government of Iran alerted DEEP BLACK contacts in Kuwait that a SPECWEAPS Dresden Incursion had occurred at the coastal town of Bandar-e Maqam and contact with the town had been lost. DEEP BLACK coordinated a joint operation between U.S. Marine Corps special forces and Iranian Revolutionary Guards. An amphibious landing revealed a kill zone of approximately four hundred meters along with an exclusion effect which rendered the kill zone 'invisible' to residents of the town, the surviving members of whom were unaware of anything out of the ordinary. USMC and DEEP BLACK assets handed control of the anomaly over to the Iranian RG and departed, not having left the exclusion zone and hence unnoticed by the residents. Iran later reported that no SPECWEAPS were found outside the exclusion zone but radiation contamination was detected scattered near the center of the circular area. DEEP BLACK became concerned that HARPERS FERRY or rogue Iraqi Servitor systems had departed aerially from the region, but no tracking information was available.




Information is available with high confidence that suggests Iraqi forces lost containment on one or more SPECWEAPS systems or HARPERS FERRY liaisons around the January 20 timeframe. Several spurious 'poison gas attacks' by Coalition forces were reported by Iraqi media, and on January 25 Iraqi forces began systematic dumping of crude oil into the Persian Gulf waters off the Shatt al-Arab, setting some of the slicks afire. As there were no Coalition forces nearby, DEEP BLACK and LAUNDRY speculate that these coordinated spills were an attempt to attack subsurface SPECWEAPS installations in the Northern Gulf and into the Shatt al-Arab. U.S. Navy forces were alerted to be on the lookout for any unidentified 'wildlife damage' in the Gulf. No corpses not identifiable as terrestrial aquatic life were recovered, however.




In the early February timeframe, a LAUNDRY agent was captured by Iraqi forces and tortured. He was unsuccessful in suiciding, and was later released by Coalition forces. He broke security to report the sighting of SPECWEAPS near a Baghdad underground facility. His report was garbled by non-cleared personnel to indicate MANHATTAN assets (WMD) and a strike package was assembled before DEEP BLACK or LAUNDRY could intervene. The resulting strike destroyed a subcellar containment pool and also killed several hundred civilians who had been sheltering in the facility. Later examination showed a lead foil lined containment pool with radiation traces and a subsurface channel to a deep cave system with a now-recognizable Shoggoth erosion track indicating at least one SPECWEAPS asset had successfully evacuated the bunker.




In response, the United States issued an ultimatum to Iraq - a public one to withdraw from Kuwait, and a private message indicating that all SPECWEAPS must be declared and turned over or Iraq would face ground incursion and forcible D/Y disarmament. At this point, it seems likely from information captured later that the entirety of SPECWEAPS systems and personnel inside Iraq were in the process of evacuating under the auspices of HARPERS FERRY and that Iraqi personnel were no longer in control of these systems and assets. However, this was not communicated to Coalition forces, and on February 24, 1991 Coalition ground forces invaded Iraq and Kuwait. General Norman Schwarzkopf dispatched a far westerly force - the Left Hook - to cover movements by special SPECWEAPS units as they searched a region past Khafji for SPECWEAPS violations reported by several Iraqi defectors and prisoners. Several facilities were found but were empty.

Operation DESERT STORM ended with Saddam Hussein withdrawing from Kuwait but without any acknowledgement on the part of Iraq of its SPECWEAPS violations.




During Operation DESERT STORM, exploitation efforts in SITE GAMMA behind Mt. Erebus were stepped up. Exploitation teams finally penetrated the rockfalls without further damage and accessed the subsurface watershed, christened MOON POOL for an unknown source of illumination at the deep bottom of the lake. Efforts began to portage a small submersible up onto the Erebus plateau, through the ruins, and down to MOON POOL for exploration.




After seven months the covert twin to DSV-2 Alvin, DSVC-3 Ailey, along with its minimal ground support equipment were portaged onto the shore chamber of MOON POOL. Two DEEP BLACK research personnel and two Navy crew took Ailey down to the lower depths of MOON POOL during a series of seven dives. No signs of life were discovered until the submersible reached the first tier of the bottom shelf at approximately five hundred meters down, when regular ruins bearing strong resemblance to the Erebus Plateau ruins were discovered. Instruments showed that the unknown illumination from the center of the lake, which waxed and waned on a complex schedule, was strongly radioactive when the sixth dive near the center measured a flux of approximately one hundred roentgens/hr at three hundred meters depth. The lake began to show signs of warming as Ailey approached the anomaly.




On the ninth dive, Ailey reached the center bottom of MOON POOL and discovered a large and complex mound, in ruins, with light emanating strongly from the center. Investigation by ROV showed a roughly-disc-shaped discontinuity in the center of the collapsed structure which was emitting (at the time) dim light and some radiation. The ROV was sent across the discontinuity plane but immediately lost contact with Ailey.

After several weeks of work, Ailey was inserted through the discontinuity plane with two crew and two DEEP BLACK researchers aboard. Contact was lost immediately and was not reestablished. After three days, the duration of onboard life support on the Ailey, the SITE GAMMA exploitation team declared possible PRIOR TENANT OLIVE THUNDER or HARPERS FERRY CHARTREUSE BACKFIRE and the MOON POOL cavern was sealed against further exploration under SPECWEAPS threat class.




In 1994, an Indian Navy missile boat on maneuvers in the southwestern Indian Ocean was taken under subsurface attack by forces unknown. It was lost with all hands after reporting seismic disturbances. The Indian Navy dispatched search and rescue vessels and were shadowed by United States submarines. Upon locating the site of the sinking due to a recovered disaster buoy, India officially requested assistance from the U.S. in strict secrecy. The U.S. Navy and Indian submersibles located the wreck of the missile boat in the Crozet Basin at a depth of some 4,000 meters. It was surrounded by unknown plasmid systems.




The U.S. Navy, following protocol, notified DEEP BLACK. When DEEP BLACK attempted BENTHIC OUTREACH protocols, no response was forthcoming. Evidence of known HARPERS FERRY systems interference were detected on the frigate's hulk. Assets of the U.S. and Indian navies surveyed the area and located a stone structure some seventeen kilometers from the boat's hulk which bore signs of PRIOR TENANT architecture. When no communication from the structure was forthcoming, the U.S. Navy SSN USS Boston (SSN-703) deployed a MANHATTAN armed torpedo in accordance with Dresden protocols on benthic defense in the face of a violation of the PRIOR TENANT terms. The structure was destroyed. DSP satellite NUDETS recorded a garbled characteristic double-flash on its primary bhangmeter; non-SPECWEAPS cleared policy and military arms debated for several weeks whether this was an actual detection before the report was buried and a coverup began at DEEP BLACK's behest, replacing all references to the MANHATTAN deployment and detection with references to the Vela Incident of 1979.




In 1996, a badly-attenuated lasercom signal was received by DEEP BLACK instrumentation aboard the Hubble Space Telescope. It contained a three still frame images, repeated and encoded using the Graphic Interchange Format. Frame one showed the base of a waterfall of approximately Niagara's width and indeterminate height, with a clearly-wrecked DSVC-3 Ailey near the edge of the basal pool. Frame two showed a clear image of a night sky, with good definition of various stars, and a handheld chronometer set into the frame showing a date three days after contact had been lost with Ailey (the chronometer was accurate to a ten thousandth of a second, having been synchronized just prior to Ailey's departure). Frame three showed a densely but clearly written report, apparently scribed onto a white surface with a standard marker.




The Ailey had exited the portal at a shallow point in a wide river and immediately been swept over the waterfall. Two of the four crew had died on impact. One had broken several ribs and a femur. The DEEP BLACK researcher survivor had escaped with minor bruising. The two survivors quickly determined that the gamma flux in their environment (which had been designated PORTAL/ALEPH) was lethal, but in the time remaining to them they managed to cobble together their normal underwater lasercom link to a laptop computer. The DEEP BLACK survivor had scrambled back up the waterfall and managed to thrust the assembly back through the portal. However, it had not returned to MOON POOL but to a different gate location, as far as he was able to determine, for it came back frozen. He guessed that the return path led to open space, and after two more days of work managed to remove a gyroscope stable platform cage from Ailey and wire the lasercom assembly into it along with a rudimentary star tracker application. Then both survivors wrote out the report in Frame III and apparently managed to return the entire assembly through the portal completely. The elapsed time and direction of the contact indicated that the assembly had returned to sidereal space in the vicinity of Alpha Centauri A, whereupon it had oriented itself and begun transmitting.




Seven hours, ten minutes and sixteen seconds of repeated transmissions were recorded before the signal ended.
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Mr. President, at this time return SECTIONS ONE THROUGH FIVE to your designated Operative Occluder.




BREAK BREAK SECURITY PROCEDURE BREAK BREAK




Following the report from PORTAL/ALEPH, Project WATCHTOWER was instantiated by DEEP BLACK and US NCA to include all SITE GAMMA activities. WATCHTOWER was tasked with deciphering and exploiting PORTAL resources. DEEP BLACK was tasked with terrestrial operations involving any benthic entities. DEEP BLACK initiated the EMPIRE categorization for all those HOTEL SIERRA personnel known to be under the influence of SPECWEAPS infiltrates. All EMPIRE tagged individuals were to be subcategorized as per their operative SPECWEAPS control entity, so for example EMPIRE BLACK, EMPIRE CLEAN for LAUNDRY personnel, EMPIRE DRAGON, EMPIRE GIFT, EMPIRE HARPERS, EMPIRE TENANT and for unknown influence personnel, EMPIRE NULL.




In 1999, intelligence suggested that continued intransigence on the part of the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia in the Kosovo War indicated EMPIRE interference. Investigations on the part of the LAUNDRY and DEEP BLACK produced medium confidence results that experimental EMPIRE manipulation was taking place from diplomatic enclaves in Belgrade, categorized EMPIRE GIFT. DEEP BLACK requested verification of EMPIRE activity from ANCESTRAL GIFT and received a negative response. DEEP BLACK transported EMPIRE BLACK assets into Belgrade and narrowed the location of EMPIRE transmissions to the region of the Chinese embassy; DEEP BLACK notified ANCESTRAL GIFT of the findings and again requested explanation. ANCESTRAL GIFT denied involvement. At this point, DEEP BLACK inserted a strike package into ongoing Operation ALLIED FORCE air tasking, resulting in a single aircraft deviating to attack the Chinese Embassy with gravity weapons. The EMPIRE signals vanished at the moment of the strike.




The government of China utilized the strike for internal political mobilization. U.S. Government response was not briefed by DEEP BLACK and determined (as had been planned) that the bombing was accidental. In mid-1999, however, a factional rift occurred between DEEP BLACK and an NSC covert policy organization which had been tasked in the late 1940s by POTUS Truman with coordinating the investigation of extra-spatial interventions or events on earth. At the time, these were defined as those events not linked to known benthic influence, with an emphasis on spatial activity (which at the time was not linked to benthic entities). In 1999, however, DEEP BLACK declared that due to the PORTAL/ALEPH incident, spatial incursions required a DEEP BLACK investigation and oversight. The second organization, MAJESTIC, disagreed. POTUS Clinton was not briefed due to his imminent departure from office. In the later part of 1999, an EMPIRE BLACK operative, John F. Kennedy Jr., was lost in the ocean off the U.S. East Coast. DEEP BLACK investigation turned up evidence of interference with Op Kennedy's SPECWEAPS implants during flight in his personal aircraft.




DEEP BLACK initiated a security breach alert concerning MAJESTIC. All DEEP BLACK assets were instructed to deny cooperation with MAJESTIC assets and to conduct 'those operations as necessary' to deny MAJESTIC any information on DEEP BLACK operations.




In response, MAJESTIC began interference operations in domestic U.S. policy and civic areas. MAJESTIC Operative Karl Rove, assigned to shadow and if necessary terminate presidential candidate George W. Bush, was given new instructions to begin use of MAJESTIC assets to assist Bush's election effort. DEEP BLACK, after much internal debate, decided to remain covert after risk assessment operations determined that it was possible Bush might be able to gain the presidency due to illicit MAJESTIC operations. DEEP BLACK management determined that in the case of a Bush victory, DEEP BLACK was mandated by its original charter to avoid contact with a BUSH administration as said administration was associated with EMPIRE NULL (MAJESTIC) assets not under DEEP BLACK control. All operations directed against MAJESTIC and other US NSC organizations were designated VIOLET CAIN. Analysts in DEEP BLACK began referring to VIOLET CAIN as 'The MAJESTIC Wars.'




In 2000, George W. Bush was elected President with the DEEP BLACK-documented use of SPECWEAPS capability by MAJESTIC operatives in Florida, Ohio, Pennsylvania and Guam. DEEP BLACK formally instituted CASE AMBER FEEDBACK and severed operational ties with the executive branch of the U.S. Government, destroying and altering records as necessary to prevent the Administration from taking control of or exploiting DEEP BLACK capabilities. All contact with MAJESTIC was restricted, and while active operations against MAJESTIC were not sanctioned, self-defense and information gathering was approved. MAJESTIC, on the other hand, continued a program of interference and elimination against known DEEP BLACK operatives and installations. Fortunately, this list was short. PORTAL/ALEPH was completely firewalled off from MAJESTIC.




DEEP BLACK retained three installations visible for disinformation purposes: Operations East, in New York City; DREAMLAND/51, in Nevada, and an office at Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution. DREAMLAND/51 was staffed with decoy management personnel instructed to maintain a high level of random activity, in accordance with ongoing MAJESTIC/BLUE BOOK disinformation campaigns. The Woods Hole office was simply a flytrap. Operations East was ostensibly to act as liaison with New York State Emergency Management in case of severe weather or ocean disturbance.




On September 11, 2001, EMPIRE NULL personnel flew two hijacked airliners into the World Trade Center, triggering standard secret procedures which destroyed Operations East. DEEP BLACK changed status to full conflict level. POTUS Bush indicated publicly his intent to retaliate against Iraq and Afghanistan for the incident. DEEP BLACK was unable to positively connect the EMPIRE NULL personnel aboard the incident aircraft to MAJESTIC, but confidence was moderate to high. DEEP BLACK suspected intent on the part of MAJESTIC to co-opt the Shanidar site in Iraq as well as two sites of suspected Soviet SPECWEAPS testing in the Khyber Pass. DEEP BLACK had sanitized both sites, but restricted that information.




Also in 2001, seven MAJESTIC operatives were compromised through contamination (by DEEP BLACK operatives) of their manufactured SPECWEAPS implants. In response, the Bush administration (under MAJESTIC urging) outlawed all stem cell research save that involving known (sanitized) cell lines to prevent unauthorized SPECWEAPS infiltrates from being propagated.




DEEP BLACK recommended to all other Dresden/Yalta organizations that they restrict contact with MAJESTIC-tainted arms of government. With the planning efforts of DEEP BLACK and ELDER DRAGON no longer monitoring or maintaining policy, US and USSR executive decision makers were released from all thralls, CLASS TWO AND LOWER (see OPERATION CLOSET SHIELD, OPERATION MORSKOI LIFT). As a result, both nations began to negotiate in earnest to lower MANHATTAN asset numbers, resulting in treaty. Maintaining low profile in the face of MAJESTIC operations, DEEP BLACK and its sister organizations began covert efforts to procure and deploy alternate systems to handle potential SPECWEAPS combat.




In 2002, covert BENTHIC OUTREACH operations were undertaken by DEEP BLACK assets to attempt to maintain contact with PRIOR TENANT. However, these attempts were rebuffed. MAJESTIC, operating on scraps of information concerning PRIOR TENANT, initiated a seismic sounding operation in late 2002 near a known PRIOR TENANT installation in the Pacific. DEEP BLACK was unable to interfere or alert PRIOR TENANT. Indications are that several structures were destroyed by shockwave. In the meantime, DEEP BLACK began to push otherwise idled resources towards active exploitation and exploration of PROJECT WATCHTOWER. After two years, human-safe transport through MOON POOL to PORTAL/ALEPH was achieved; four volunteers transited with no (at the time) known return mechanism in expedition WATCHTOWER GUARD ONE.




In early 2003, apparently in retaliation, PRIOR TENANT OLIVE THUNDER operations resulted in the destruction of the Space Shuttle Orbiter Columbia. MAJESTIC was able to determine that unknown forces were involved, but not the nature of these forces. DEEP BLACK, still hidden, was not involved in the discovery process.




In February 2003, GUARD ONE signals were detected arising from the center of the Saudi Arabian desert. A hurriedly-assembled DEEP BLACK team discovered the four members of GUARD ONE in a series of buried ruins in the Rub' al Khali. GUARD ONE had transited five portals, returning to a portal buried in a chamber in these ruins which were identified as Irem al-Zhad, or the City of Pillars. DEEP BLACK determined that the portal itself could not be moved, and evacuated GUARD ONE and their equipment, then used explosives to bury the site under seventy feet of sand. They planted a false portal, apparently inactive, and some GUARD ONE equipment with it several hundred miles to the North in the Iraqi western regions.

MAJESTIC immediately instigated the invasion of Iraq upon their discovery.




XXX END SECTION SIX XXX
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Mr. President, this briefing is for your eyes only and must, as per Executive Order PEI-43Y (Secret) be read within twenty-four (24) hours of your assuming the office of President of the United States of America. This is a familiarization briefing intended to provide you with a current SITREP regarding the Dresden/Yalta accords signatories and all relevant USG organizations. Please note that code clearance for current operations contained in this document is SECRET SAPPHIRE VORPAL KILO, superseding SECRET SAPPHIRE VORPAL JULIET from prior briefing sections. If you have not been inscribed with a current Ward of Clearance for SAPPHIRE VORPAL KILO by your Designated Occluder at this time, IMMEDIATELY cease reading until so cleared to avoid risk of involuntary personality B-spline or Metabolic Holiday Event.




CHECKPOINT RUNE OF CONJURATION T'SOGTOTH/LEGASSA BA'AL-STRITH BY THE POWER OF BA'AL SHEM IT IS WRITTEN:

§Ξ∀⊄LIVING.




SITUATION REPORT FOLLOWS - SECTION ONE:




Former POTUS George H.W. Bush, immediately following the invasion of Iraq, reported to a DEEP BLACK contact at an undisclosed location and underwent voluntary memory erasure in order to prevent MAJESTIC and the current administration from learning the extent of DEEP BLACK operations. Former POTUS Clinton was retained as a free agent counter-operative, coordinating east coast VIOLET CAIN operations from his New York City office location.




By May 1, 2003 the invasion of Iraq had completed major combat operations. MAJESTIC immediately dispatched an exploitation mission with combat support to the decoy site in the Iraqi western desert. Immediately before the main body reached the site, a DEEP BLACK operative on overwatch duty, shielded by Faraday netting and a Rune of Shoggoth, detonated explosives within the site so as to seriously damage but not completely obliterate the false portal. Simultaneously, Kurdish forces, acting on a tip from a DEEP BLACK operative, attacked the site in the understanding that it was a Ba'athist guerrilla brigade weapons depot. The American combat forces engaged the Kurds, who slipped away when the nature of their opponents became clear. MAJESTIC recovered fragmentary components of the false portal and other planted artifacts.




At this time, a detachment from SITE GAMMA was moved into Saudi ARAMCO as surveyors and exploratory drillers. With this cover in place, they moved immediately to the original site of GUARD ONE's recovery, excavated an access tunnel to the now-buried site, and began to tunnel it clear.




On June 18th, 2003 the IAEA determined that Iran was pursuing MANHATTAN assets. Not being cleared for SPECWEAPS, that agency immediately assumed these assets were for HOTEL SIERRA operations, and began investigation. DEEP BLACK, aware that Iran had begun seeking MANHATTAN protection due to the discoveries beneath Iraq over the prior several years, was unable to affect policy due to ongoing VIOLET CAIN operations. MAJESTIC policy was enacted depicting Iran as primary alternate cover for Middle East operations.




DEEP BLACK determined that the corruption of the US Federal Government infrastructure by MAJESTIC was more pervasive than had been originally thought. As there was low confidence that the full MAJESTIC target set had been identified, DEEP BLACK maneuvered to have a candidate selected to oppose the sitting President with both high chances of nomination and low chances of success, in order to draw out MAJESTIC operations. John Kerry secured the nomination on March 2, 2005. During the presidential campaign, photo interpretation produced evidence that President Bush was under strict Servitor control via a Josephson/Lovecraft resonator link underneath his body armor. Pictures from a Presidential Debate clearly showed the resonator power linkage underneath his jacket, and disinformation to the effect that the images show an audio prompter unit was circulated. All VIOLET CAIN operations against the President were suspended, and a Ramos-Equerry Exclusion glyph was emplaced in secret around the Oval Office to render the President's minder unable to communicate with its controllers. As a consequence, the president began spending even more time in Texas and at other MAJESTIC-safed retreats; however, MAJESTIC could not remove him from the White House entirely. Although MAJESTIC was not aware of the reason for the disruption, many months were spent reinforcing the Servitor link (fruitlessly) before MAJESTIC wrote off the POTUS as a useful asset.




In early August of 2004, MAJESTIC NOAA assets performed an unknown operation in the Gulf of Mexico. Although no known cargo was retrieved, on August 12, hurricanes Bonnie and Charley struck the Florida coast within hours of each other. DEEP BLACK again attempted BENTHIC OUTREACH at designated Pacific contact sites. Contact was made briefly. Before DEEP BLACK could explain the MAJESTIC/DEEP BLACK schism properly, a warning was delivered from PRIOR TENANT which indicated that due to HOTEL SIERRA collaboration with HARPERS FERRY, a retaliatory strike was due to be delivered against surface assets. Contact was broken before DEEP BLACK could gain more information. On December 29, 2004, a large tsunami event occurred in Southeast Asia, killing several hundred thousand. DEEP BLACK leadership decided that as no destruction of sovereign U.S. territory occurred, DEEP BLACK would refrain from response in kind.




MAJESTIC sponsored communications efforts were observed using U.S. navy assets in the Indian Ocean and South Pacific immediately following this event. The results are still unknown. Immediately following, however, NASA was given final confirmation for the DEEP IMPACT mission. On July 4th, 2005 - for symbolic amplification - the spacecraft struck comet Tempel-1 at speed, ostensibly for scientific measurement. DEEP BLACK received word, however, that HARPERS FERRY presence on comet Tempel-1 had been determined by prior MAJESTIC communications with that bloc.




On August 25, 2005 Hurricane Katrina struck the U.S. Gulf Coast. Damage was widespread. DEEP BLACK initiated another round of BENTHIC OUTREACH missions. PRIOR TENANT denied responsibility for Katrina, and placed blame on HARPERS FERRY. DEEP BLACK requested assistance with a counterstrike and requested targeting information. PRIOR TENANT offered to provide this information in exchange for a re-signing of the Benthic Exclusion Treaty which explicitly recognized PRIOR TENANT as the dominant sovereign below the 3-km limit. DEEP BLACK, unable to garner formal US Government recognition for the agreement due to the MAJESTIC conflict, nevertheless agreed and undertook to represent the U.S. for the purposes of the treaty extension. Following the treaty exchange, PRIOR TENANT transmitted coordinates of a deep chasmic well underneath Pakistan with connections to the Indian Ocean.




DEEP BLACK mobilized several emergency reserve assets and transported a strike unit with a MANHATTAN asset to the coordinates in question under operation SAKNUSSEM THUNDER. Forty-two DEEP BLACK agents were killed gaining access to the well, but eight survived to take the MANHATTAN asset into the depths. Some nine hours after contact was lost, a magnitude 7.6 earthquake was reported in neighboring regions of Pakistan. DEEP BLACK sanitized the entry point as far as possible and departed.

In January of 2006, Iran (partially due to fragmentary intelligence of SAKNUSSEM THUNDER) ejected IAEA monitors and continued its nuclear program.




In March of 2006, POTUS Bush, operating partially under Servitor control, renewed the USA PATRIOT act and authorized Project SYENE - widespread monitoring of U.S. telecommunications in an attempt to locate DEEP BLACK or PRIOR TENANT transmissions. Also in March, DEEP BLACK received intelligence that MAJESTIC was no longer able to contact HARPERS FERRY, apparently as a result of SAKNUSSEM THUNDER.
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Beginning in late 2006, DEEP BLACK operatives began to assemble information on deep-grid data collection activities by MAJESTIC-controlled arms of the Federal Government and to leak selected information about these activities to the press and non-EMPIRE policymakers. Project SYENE was evaluated for Dresden/Yalta utility before being exposed to several press contacts, resulting in domestic legal challenges being raised against POTUS Bush's collection efforts - sponsored by MAJESTIC against DEEP BLACK and the other Dresden/Yalta organizations with the 'Global War on Terror' as official cover. By January of 2007, SYENE was compromised to the point where POTUS Bush was forced to announce that the FISA court would oversee all domestic intelligence collection. POTUS Bush issued Executive Order 13422,1, forcing the presence of a MAJESTIC operative minder on all federal agencies in an attempt to determine the source of the SYENE leaks.




Meanwhile, PORTAL/ALEPH exploitation had remained underway at SITE GAMMA and PORTAL/EPSILON, the site buried within Irem al-Zhad. Contact teams of DEEP BLACK and LAUNDRY personnel had made seven sorties through portals ALEPH and EPSILON in search of life-forms. Two teams were lost before a third returned with casualties and the news that unknown sentient forms had been encountered six portal transitions from PORTAL/EPSILON. The contact team had come under attack of unknown type, losing two members, before managing to retreat through the prior portal and sealing it shut via pre-placed avalanche charges.




In late February, a rogue DEEP BLACK agent attempted to sponsor an assassination attempt against MAJESTIC director Cheney during the latter's visit to Afghanistan. The attack failed; the DEEP BLACK station chief responsible was remote terminated via servitor.




During the month of February, unexplained weather patterns resulted in several severe tornado strikes on the CONUS. One week following the return of the final contact team through PORTAL/EPSILON, DEEP BLACK received an Emergency Action Message from ELDER DRAGON assets near Ulyanovskaya, Russia, warning that unknown seismic anomalies were occurring beneath several mining facilities with no known cause. On March 19 a mine complex was attacked by unknown forces, resulting in approximately 110 casualties. ELDER DRAGON characterized the event as a 'methane explosion' but communicated to DEEP BLACK that plasmid systems similar to HARPERS FERRY sightings had been engaged (unsuccessfully) within the mine. ELDER DRAGON personnel, unable to secure MANHATTAN release, elected to collapse the mine.

Towards the end of March, BENTHIC OUTREACH operations were finally successful in raising PRIOR TENANT communications near Hawaii. PRIOR TENANT indicated that they were fully engaged with HARPERS FERRY on a global scale and had indications that new forces and technology had entered the conflict. They requested information. DEEP BLACK communicated the results of PORTAL/EPSILON, and PRIOR TENANT confirmed that the newly sighted plasmids from Ulayanovskaya were similar but not identical to HARPERS FERRY. PRIOR TENANT opined that the plasmid systems might be extraterrestrial Shoggoth remnants, alerted by the PORTAL teams and operating through an as-yet unknown portal site. DEEP BLACK, on behalf of Dresden/Yalta, agreed to unrestricted operations against both HARPERS FERRY and the new threat, codenamed SPARTACUS APERTURE.




At around this time, MAJESTIC, unaware of the new front opening, began to initiate measures against Iran using WMD rhetoric. Iran, which had garnered tacit approval for SPECWEAPS MANHATTAN acquisition from the Dresden/Yalta signatories, was not aware of the MAJESTIC/DEEP BLACK split and assumed that Dresden/Yalta had revoked prior MANHATTAN endorsement. Iran sent notification to LAUNDRY that it was withdrawing from any and all Dresden/Yalta instruments effective immediately upon the UN Security Council approving anti-enrichment sanctions.




On April 1, a temblor of Richter magnitude 8.1 was detected off the Solomon Islands. The resulting tsunami and the quake itself killed some 35 persons. DEEP BLACK and ANCESTRAL GIFT assets reported that the quake was centered on one of the few known HARPERS FERRY installations above the Benthic Line, and that the installation was destroyed. PRIOR TENANT was assumed to be responsible.

Before a BENTHIC OUTREACH mission could confirm this, however, Iran announced to the world its ability to enrich uranium. DEEP BLACK analysts posited that Iran had become aware of the MAJESTIC wars, and was couching messages intended for DEEP BLACK in public statements in an attempt to force disclosure of Dresden/Yalta.




Senate policymakers, guided by DEEP BLACK suggestors, passed a bill intending to ease the restrictions on stem cell research that POTUS Bush had emplaced to stifle EMPIRE activities.




On May 6, message traffic was recorded between HARPERS FERRY and Iranian government assets. Later that day, a Category F-5 tornado leveled Greensburg, KS, apparently under HARPERS FERRY atmospheric influence. While DEEP BLACK struggled to plan a response while also fighting MAJESTIC, a second incursion killed 38 miners in Novokuznetsk, near to the site of the first mine attack. ELDER DRAGON declared that it was opening operational restrictions against SPARTACUS APERTURE and warned other D/Y signatories that if 

indicated it would engage HARPERS FERRY as well if detected.




In July, in order to cover what DEEP BLACK recognized as preparations for covert but high-intensity SPECWEAPS combat expected, Russia withdrew from the Conventional Forces in Europe treaty so as to avoid violating its provisions and forcing inspections.




On July 17th, an earthquake of magnitude 6.8 was detected near Niigata, Japan. DEEP BLACK analysis section determined that this and prior quakes were PRIOR TENANT operations directed at HARPERS FERRY, and opened classification INDRA NEPTUNE for all current ongoing HARPERS FERRY/PRIOR TENANT combat operations and their effects.




A nuclear facility in Kashiwazaki was heavily damaged by the Niigata quake, and was discovered by ANCESTRAL GIFT covert forces to contain MANHATTAN facilities intended for use against PRIOR TENANT installations by EMPIRE HARPERS personnel within the JSDF. PORTAL/ALEPH teams reported locating a terrestrial portal seventeen portal transitions from ALEPH at an unknown deep sea location using seawater analysis to confirm its Terran nature. This information was passed to PRIOR TENANT, but no response was forthcoming. On August 15th, however, a magnitude 8.0 quake took place off the central coast of Peru. Following this, PORTAL teams reported that the unknown Terran portal had been sealed by debris or damage.




Less than a week later, however, Hurricane Dean made landfall in Mexico and destroyed a DEEP BLACK oceanographic research facility, interfering with BENTHIC OUTREACH operations. In order to replace the lost communications capability, Space Shuttle Discovery was tasked to install covert DEEP BLACK communications gear aboard the International Space Station during a scheduled construction mission. The activity required the relocation of an entire solar panel array.




Meanwhile, unexpectedly to the Dresden/Yalta agencies, the IDF performed a surprise strike against a facility on the Euphrates River which sources indicated to the press contained a North Korean-designed Magnox nuclear reactor. Sampling, however, showed radiation - but of a different spectra, one more consistent with SPECWEAPS systems.




MAJESTIC, at this point, had become entangled firmly in public American foreign and domestic policy, and was under stress caused by their activities and agenda becoming visible via policy decisions. MAJESTIC operative Karl Rove was forced to resign due to attracting far too much attention after serving as the 'source' of many of MAJESTIC's policy initiatives.




Although no known Dresden/Yalta facilities were involved, Tropical Storm Noel swept through the Caribbean on October 31, killing over a hundred. During the storm, major disturbances were reported near the Puerto Rican abyssal. DEEP BLACK estimated that HARPERS FERRY and PRIOR TENANT forces were directly engaged below the Benthic Line. Severe weather seasonal warnings were enacted to attempt to lower traffic in the affected area.




In early November on the Black Sea, a severe storm sank 10 ships. Although 11 were publicly lost, ELDER DRAGON reported that the eleventh, the tanker Volganeft-139, was scuttled to dump its cargo on a suspected HARPERS FERRY installation in an attempt to control regional weather disruption.




In response, on November 15th, Cyclone Sidr killed over 3,500 people in Bangladesh. A few days later, in what appears to DEEP BLACK to be a coordinated offensive, another incursion (this time in Ukraine) resulted in another 100 or so miners killed and an unknown number of ELDER DRAGON personnel lost in combat.

On November 20th, MAJESTIC suffered another blow when scientists in the U.S. announced the creation of stem cell lines from skin cells, effectively bypassing POTUS Bush's prohibition on EMPIRE research. Three days later, on the 23rd, a cruise ship near SITE GAMMA was lost to what is determined to be a PRIOR TENANT communications attempt. All 100 passengers and 50 crew of the Explorer were rescued by nearby ships; a DEEP BLACK team completed the BENTHIC OUTREACH tasking and received intelligence warning them of a new HARPERS FERRY/SPARTACUS APERTURE facility being constructed off the west coast of South Korea with intent to disrupt the fragile truce on the peninsula.




A special operations force of ELDER DRAGON, ANCESTRAL GIFT, DEEP BLACK and LAUNDRY operatives succeeded in causing the controlled spill of over 2.8 million gallons of crude oil from the tanker Hebei Spirit off the Korean coast, blanketing the suspected HARPERS APERTURE base.




XXX END SECTION TWO XXX
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The lawsuits of 2006 and 2007 had almost been a disaster. It had taken all the dancing skills of several grizzled civil servants at GS scales astronomically higher than usually seen to make the threat to the Project go away, and none of the team in the lab really wanted to know what had finally been done. They liked sleeping at night. But here and now, that wasn't an issue; the last line of code had been nailed into place, the last tap had been threaded, and the last bit of fiber had been hotspliced in an AT&T switching facility a week prior over in Salt Lake City where the Pacific Cross traffic came through. The Director was here in the PuzzleBox for the ceremony.

"Er, basically, sir, we're ready." The lead tech smoothed his T-shirt nervously. The Director looked at him for a few moments, causing him to search his conscience, but before he could blurt out the actual details of that last trip to Vegas, the Director nodded and turned away to corral the few brass who were lurking near the door. The tech sighed quietly and went to gather up his own team.

When all the VIPs had been settled in chairs near the main monitoring station, the tech went over to them. "Gentlemen, ladies, thanks for coming. I'm Park, project lead, and this is the first operational test of Project Syene. The filtergrids are coming online now, and we'll be ready to take traffic into the main array in about five minutes."

The Director coughed politely. "Park, could you give my colleagues a one or two sentence explanation of how Syene will help us avoid any, er, unpleasantness like the recent legal troubles we had with the program?"

"Sure, sir. Let's see. The problem, as it was phrased by others, was that we were retaining and interpreting traffic from and to non-target individuals as well as known targets in order to perform proper traffic analysis. We had to, in order to do datamining on the contact patterns, since we couldn't do that in realtime. The call content, as well, had to be analyzed after the fact, so we were - it was argued" - he added hastily, thinking of his audience - "we were retaining intelligence on civilians illegally. Anyway. The difference here is that Syene is doing live pattern recognition and traffic analysis without data retention; it is actively eliminating traffic which it recognizes as 'normal' for the U.S. telecommunications system from the 'net' before it even begins to analyze the take. Then, it is using spintronic and quantum systems to perform nonlinear pattern analysis of the call data in realtime-"

"Okay, son, I see eyes glazing. Cut to the chase, please."

"Sorry, sir. In essence, it means we never save any data until it has been flagged as anomalous; we don't need to save it in order to analyse it. The pattern data from the call is retained in quantum state without the actual call data being available, so that its character can be compared later without the actual call information being held without warrant. This is possible because Syene has been, in essence, listening to everything our telecom system 'says' for the past year or so and knows what 'normal' sounds like, and she can filter out nearly all of that by simply ignoring what sounds familiar. What's left over - well, that's suspicious."

"Thanks, Park. You can get on with it."

“Yes, sir." Park adjusted his earset and checked in with his team. They were watching data spool through the grid at rates that would have looked horrific if he hadn't been watching what Syene could do for six months now. "All clear, guys?"

The responses came back; all okay. The machinery was fine; the code was stable, and wonder of wonders, the qubits were deigning to remain in semi-existence.

"Okay, let's go live. Shunt the feed onto the grid."

There was a wash of green across the status board as telecom feeds poured into the dataspace of the Syene comparators. The green threads blossomed on the display, indicating trunk routings, calls, port connections; just as quickly, they blinked and vanished, indicating that Syene had identified them as familiar and blanked them from the incoming traffic. A very few threads began to appear in yellow, then even fewer in red on the second board, indicating traffic that was surviving the winnowing and being flagged as anomalous.

Park talked to his team for a half an hour, then turned to the watching officials. "It looks good. We've positively identified over 60% of the redflagged traffic as being encrypted at 2k-spin or higher levels, and not by us; of the rest, some is in clear but involving obvious nonsense sentence structures, likely code. Some few have been tagged by human analysts as likely mentally disturbed people on the telephone, and the numbers marked for greenlisting."

"Impressive, son." The Director looked pleased. "Very good. We're going to go upstairs. I'd like reports every shift, please."

"Yessir."

                            




It settled into a routine, punctuated only by the normal breaks of man-made machinery that broke or discovered new modes of operation that its designers hadn't intended. New procedures were hastily written up, new recovery processes devised, and the flood of chatter went on. The PuzzleBox hummed with the talking.

The next week, Park came in to see two threads on the status board that were purple. He frowned and called over the chief ontologist. "Hayward, what the hell are those?"

The other scratched his head. "We dunno. Syene tagged 'em. We've had a listen, and it sounds like some sort of analog encoding system, but it's not one we know."

"Unknown encoding systems should be red."

"Yeah, I know. We're confused too. But it's definitely an unknown encoding system. We're pretty sure that it's just because it's an analog signal mod as opposed to a digital hash that's making it purple. There's a couple of signal proc gurus beating on it in their spare time."

"Okay. Let me know if anything breaks."

"Sure."

                            




Another week passed.

                            




There were nine purple threads, now. Park had given in and reported them to the Director, who had become intensely interested in them and asked Park for a source. Park had demurred, since all they knew so far was that the calls contained undecipherable noises, which (as far as he was concerned) wasn't really a crime. But he did work at the NSA, and he passed on the phone numbers. Because he worked at the NSA, nobody told him anything about the result, but the purple threads continued to accumulate.

"I bet it's an own goal." The Syene team had started bandying hypotheses about the purple people eaters back and forth over lunch in the lab. So far, an own goal - detection of a friendly intelligence agent's communications - was on top of the betting pool by a comfortable margin.

Park shook his head. "Nah. It's analog, man."

The other tech retorted "Yeah, but we can't crack it. It's sweet. Why couldn't that be Upstairs?" (Upstairs being the active crypto division).

"Look, Upstairs wouldn't go analog. It's too kludgey for them. Besides, can you imagine a U.S. agent being told he's taking analog tech into the field?" There were titters around the break room table. "Yeah. They'd quit on the spot. If it doesn't look slicker than a fucking iPod, they won't have anything to do with it."

"So what do you think it is?"

Park finished his coffee. "I think it's a little guy who's got Ops over here who's been extremely clever with limited resources. Maybe it's a Shack Special." Shack Specials were another intel community in-joke, the crypto and communications version of a 'MacGyver' - a functional modern cryptodevice that could be put together with parts available at Radio Shack.

In the ensuing laughter, they drifted back to work.

                            




By week three, there were twenty-eight threads on the board, and Park had gotten a little obsessive. He had taken to listening to samples of the traffic on his iPod when wandering the building (since it couldn't leave the SCF) and twice his team had had to hunt him down only to find him sitting meditatively on the john, three thousand dollar government issue noise-cancelling analysis headphones on his ears and his building pager screaming in his shirt pocket.

Finally, the Director called him Upstairs. He went, half guilty and half indignant.

"Come in, son."

"Sir."

"Have a seat."

Park sat.

"Fine job on Syene, first of all. Thing's working a treat. Very low false positive rate; much much lower than the old Echelon take."

"Thank you, sir. Sir-"

"I know. I want to talk to you about the purple threads."

Park stared at his boss's boss's boss's boss, trying not to look as defiant as he felt. "Sir, what the hell is going on?"

"You're right, by the way. They are traffic."

"Well, of course they are, or Syene wouldn't flag them, sir."

"Of course. D'you know what purple signifies?"

"Analog signal, sir."

"Heh. Nope. You should've checked the code."

"Sir?"

"The display routines weren't written in your department. You made an assumption, son. Bad habit for an analyst. Purple means unknown."

"Of course it's unknown-"

"You're not getting it. Start over."

Park stopped, looked at the Director, and tried to think harder. Unknown. Syene had been listening to the U.S. telecom system for a year. Before that, it had been fed every single specification, every single frequency, every single linguistic text, every single voice sample, and every single tonal sample that the NSA owned from all its years of intercepting voice and data traffic.

Unknown.

"Oh, shit."

The director grinned, unexpectedly. "See? They told me you were smart."

Park had paled. "You're telling me those signals are...are..."

"You can say it."

"...alien?"

"Give that boy a prize."

"But they're coming from our own telecom system!"

"So? So do the signals the Iranian agents send. So do the signals the fucking British agents send. They're illegal aliens too."

"But who are they? And who are they calling? But most of all, what are we going to do about it?"

"I'm glad you asked." The director reached behind his back and pulled a folder out of a stack of precariously balanced similar folders, placed it on the desk, and opened it. "Welcome to Project Simon Says."
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